
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

OPINIONS 

OF 


THE SUPREME COURT 

AND 


COURT OF APPEALS 

OF
 

SOUTH CAROLINA 


ADVANCE SHEET NO. 44 

December 5, 2012 


Daniel E. Shearouse, Clerk 

Columbia, South Carolina 


www.sccourts.org 


1 


http:www.sccourts.org


 
 CONTENTS 

 
 THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

 
 PUBLISHED OPINIONS AND ORDERS 

 
 
27198 - Too Tacky Partnership v. SCDHEC 14 
 
 
 UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS 
 
None 
 

PETITIONS – UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT 
 
 
27148 – Adoptive Couple v. Baby Girl  Pending 
 
2012-207307 - William Deans v. SC Dept. of Corrections Pending 
 
2012-212913 - State v. Robert Holland Koon Pending 
 

 
 PETITIONS FOR REHEARING 
 
 
27168 – Kareem J. Graves v. CAS Medical Systems Pending 
 
27181 - Historic Charleston v. The City of Charleston Pending 
 
2012-MO-035 – Julius Powell v. State  Pending 
 
2012-MO-041 - Professional Financial Services v. Terry White Pending 
 
 

 
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE PETITION FOR REHEARING 

 
27187 - Robert W. Oskin v. Stephen Mark Johnson Granted until 12/11/2012 

2
 



 

   
The South Carolina Court of Appeals 

 
PUBLISHED OPINIONS 

 
5058-Gregory H. Jenkins v. Shaniqua D. Jenkins  16 
 
5059-Kellie N. Burnette v. City of Greenville and Hewitt Coleman & Associates 29 
 

UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS 
 
2012-UP-636-Robert M. Dumit v. Daniel R. Holtzman and David Williams 

(Anderson, Judge Ellis B. Drew, Jr.) 
 
2012-UP-637-State v. David Chavez 
         (Oconee, Judge Alexander S. Macaulay) 
 
2012-UP-638-Stella Woodward v. Norfolk Southern Corporation et al. 

(Aiken, Judge Doyet A. Early, III) 
 
2012-UP-639-State v. James D. Tinsley 

(Spartanburg, Judge Roger L. Couch) 
 
2012-UP-640-State v. George Brown 

(Colleton, Judge Perry M. Buckner) 
 
2012-UP-641-State v. Anthony Quinton Brown 
         (Charleston, Judge Kristi Lea Harrington)  
 
2012-UP-642-Charles R. Machado v. Coastal Carolina University et al. 
         (Horry, Judge Larry B. Hyman, Jr.) 
 
2012-UP-643-SCDSS v. Claudia G. and Victor O. 
         (Spartanburg, Judge Phillip K. Sinclair) 
 
2012-UP-644-State v. Walter Lee Harris 
         (Orangeburg, Judge Edgar W. Dickson) 
 
2012-UP-645-State v. Christian Coleman 
         (Orangeburg, Judge Edgar W. Dickson) 
 
 

3 




 

 

 

2012-UP-646-State v. Mario Shivers 
         (Orangeburg, Judge Edgar W. Dickson) 
 
2012-UP-647-State v. Danny Ryant 
         (Orangeburg, Judge Edgar W. Dickson) 
 
2012-UP-648-State v. Calvin Henry Moore 
         (McCormick, Judge Edward B. Cottingham)  
 
2012-UP-649-Timothy Portee and Wilda Dale Portee v. Always Precise 
         Protection Agency & Investigations, Inc. and John Portee 
         (Richland, Judge James R. Barber, III) 
 

PETITIONS FOR REHEARING  
 
5008-Stephens v. CSX Transportation     Pending 
 
5011-A. Dreher v. SCDHEC      Pending 
 
5016-SC Public Interest Foundation v. Greenville County  Pending 
 
5017-State v. C. Manning (refiled opinion)    Denied  11/30/12 
 
5033-State v. Derrick McDonald  Denied  11/30/12 
 
5034-State v. Richard Bill Niles, Jr.     Pending 
 
5038-State v. Jeremy McMillan      Denied  11/30/12 
 
5039-State v. Wendell Williams      Denied  11/30/12 
 
5042-State v. Ricky Cheeks       Denied  11/30/12 
 
5044-State v. Gene Howard Vinson     Denied  11/30/12 
 
5049-Paine Gayle Properties v. CSX Transporation   Pending 
 
2012-UP-078-Tahaei v. Tahaei      Pending 
 
2012-UP-267-State v. J. White      Pending 
 
2012-UP-295-L. Hendricks v. SCDC     Pending 

4 




 

   

2012-UP-351-State v. K. Gilliard      Pending 
 
2012-UP-399-Bowen v. S.C. Department of Motor Vehicles  Pending 
 
2012-UP-462-Tennant v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals   Pending 
 
2012-UP-475-Shah v. Palmetto Health Alliance    Pending 
 
2012-UP-487-David Garrison and Diane G. Garrison  v. Dennis  Pending 

Pagette and Melanie Pagette v. Nesbitt Surveying Co., Inc. 
 
2012-UP-503-Isiah James v. SCDPPPS (5)    Pending 
 
2012-UP-520-Johnson v. Mew      Pending 
 
2012-UP-526-State v. Christopher Ryan Whitehead   Denied  11/30/12 
 
2012-UP-552-V. Miles v. Waffle House Inc.    Pending 
 
2012-UP-559-NAFH National Bank v. Tower Homes Inc.  Denied  11/30/12 
 
2012-UP-561-State v. Joseph Lathan Kelly     Denied  11/30/12 
 
2012-UP-563-State v. Marion Bonds      Pending 
 
2012-UP-571-Sarah Jo Gaylord v. Jules Gaylord   Pending 
 
2012-UP-573-State v. Kenneth Williams     Denied  11/30/12 
 
2012-UP-576-State v. Trevee J. Gethers     Pending 
 
2012-UP-579-Andrea Beth Campbell v. Ronnie Brockway, M.D. et al.    Denied  11/30/12 
 
2012-UP-585-State v. Rushan Counts      Pending 
 
2012-UP-595-State v. Anthony Linton     Pending 
 
2012-UP-600-Karen Irby v. Augusta Lawson    Pending 
 
2012-UP-603-Fidelity Bank v. Cox Investment Group et al.  Pending 
 
2012-UP-623-L. Paul Trask v. S.C. Department of Public Safety et al.   Pending 

5 




 

  PETITIONS-SOUTH CAROLINA SUPREME COURT 
 
 
4670-SCDC v. B. Cartrette      Pending 
 
4705-Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent        Pending 
 
4725-Ashenfelder v. City of Georgetown         Pending 
 
4750-Cullen v. McNeal          Pending 
 
4764-Walterboro Hospital v. Meacher        Pending 
 
4779-AJG Holdings v.  Dunn        Pending 
 
4819-Columbia/CSA v. SC Medical  Pending 
 
4823-State v. L. Burgess         Pending 
 
4832-Crystal Pines v. Phillips         Pending 
 
4833-State v. L. Phillips         Pending 
 
4838-Major v. Penn Community        Pending 
 
4851-Davis v. KB Home of S.C.      Pending 
 
4857-Stevens Aviation v. DynCorp Intern.      Pending 
 
4858-Pittman v. Pittman Pending 
 
4859-State v. B. Garris Pending 
 
4862-5 Star v. Ford Motor Company Pending 
 
4863-White  Oak v. Lexington Insurance     Pending 
 
4865-Shatto v. McLeod Regional Medical   Pending 
 
4867-State v. Jonathan Hill Pending 
 
4872-State v. Kenneth Morris Pending 
 
4873-MRI at Belfair v.  SCDHEC Pending 

6 




 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

 
    

 

 

 

4877-McComb v. Conard Pending 

4879-Stephen Wise v. Richard Wise Pending 

4880-Gordon v. Busbee Pending 

4887-Rebecca West v. Todd Morehead Pending 

4888-Pope v. Heritage Communities Pending 

4889-Team IA v. Lucas Pending 

4890-Potter v. Spartanburg School Pending 

4892-Katie Green Buist v. Michael Scott Buist Pending 

4894-State v. Andre Jackson Pending 

4895-King v. International Knife  Pending 

4897-David Tant v. SCDC Pending 

4898-Purser v. Owens Pending 

4902-Kimmer v. Wright Pending 

4905-Landry v. Carolinas Healthcare Pending 

4907-Newton v. Zoning Board Pending 

4909-North American Rescue v. Richardson Pending 

4914-Stevens v. Aughtry (City of Columbia) Pending 
          Stevens (Gary v. City of Columbia) 

4918-Patricia Lewin v. Albert Lewin Pending 

4921-Roof v. Steele Pending 

4923-Price v. Peachtree Electrical Pending 

4924-State v. Bradley Senter Pending 

7 




 

 
4926-Dinkins v. Lowe's Home Centers     Pending 
 
4927-State v. John Porter Johnson Pending 
 
4932-Margie Black v. Lexington County Bd. Of Zoning  Pending 
 
4933-Fettler v. Genter Pending 
 
4934-State v. Rodney Galimore      Pending   
 
4936-Mullarkey v. Mullarkey Pending 
 
4940-York Cty. and Nazareth Church v. SCHEC et al   Pending 
 
4941-State v. Bentley Collins       Pending 
 
4947-Ferguson Fire and Fabrication v. Preferred Fire Protection Pending 
 
4949-Robert Crossland v. Shirley Crossland Pending 
  
4953-Carmax Auto Superstores v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue  Pending 
 
4954-North Point Dev.  Group v. SCDOT Pending 
 
4956-State v. Diamon D. Fripp Pending 
 
4964-State v. Alfred Adams Pending 
 
4973-Byrd v. Livingston Pending 
 
4975-Greeneagle Inc. v. SCDHEC Pending 
 
4979-Major v. City of Hartsville Pending 
 
4983-State v. James Ervin Ramsey     Pending 
 
4989-Dennis N. Lambries v. Saluda County Council et al.   Pending 
 
4992-Gregory Ford v. Beaufort County Assessor Pending 
 
4995-Keeter v. Alpine Towers International and Sexton  Pending 

8 




 

 
5001-State v. Alonzo Craig Hawes     Pending 
 
5003-Earl Phillips as personal representative v. Brigitte Quick  Pending 
 
5006-J. Broach and M. Loomis v. E. Carter et al.   Pending 
 
5010-S.C. Dep't of Transportation v. Janell P. Revels et al.  Pending 
 
5013-Geneva Watson v. Xtra Mile Driver Training   Pending 
 
5019-John Christopher Johnson v. Reginald C. Lloyd et al.   Pending 
 
5021-Southern Glass & Plastics Co, Inc. v. Kemper   Pending 
 
5022-Gregory Collins v. Seko Charlotte and Nationwide Mutual Pending 
 
5035-David R. Martin and Patricia F. Martin v. Ann P. Bay et al. Pending 
 
2010-UP-356-State v. Darian K. Robinson Pending 
 
2011-UP-038-Dunson v. Alex Lee Inc.  Pending 
 
2011-UP-052-Williamson v. Orangeburg  Pending 
 
2011-UP-084-Greenwood Beach v.  Charleston Pending 
 
2011-UP-108-Dippel v. Horry  County Pending 
 
2011-UP-109-Dippel v. Fowler Pending 
 
2011-UP-127-State v. Beulah Butler  Pending 
 
2011-UP-137-State v. I. Romero Pending 
 
2011-UP-162-Bolds v. UTI Integrated Pending 
 
2011-UP-199-Amy Davidson v. City of Beaufort    Pending 
 
2011-UP-263-State v. Phillip Sawyer Pending 
 
2011-UP-268-In the matter of  Vincent Way Pending 

9 




 

 
2011-UP-285-State v. Bobby Lee Burdine Pending 
 
2011-UP-304-State v. Billy Winchester Pending 
 
2011-UP-328-Davison v. Scaffe Pending 
 
2011-UP-334-LaSalle Bank v. Toney Pending 
 
2011-UP-343-State v. Eric Dantzler Pending 
 
2011-UP-359-Price v. Investors Title Ins.     Pending 
 
2011-UP-363-State v. Lloyd Wright Pending 
 
2011-UP-371-Shealy v. The Paul E. Shelton Rev. Trust  Pending 
 
2011-UP-372-Underground Boring v. P. Mining   Pending 
 
2011-UP-380-EAGLE v. SCDHEC and MRR Pending 
 
2011-UP-383-Belk v. Harris Pending 
 
2011-UP-385-State  v. Anthony Wilder Pending 
 
2011-UP-441-Babb v. Graham Pending 
 
2011-UP-447-Brad Johnson v. Lewis Hall    Pending 
 
2011-UP-456-Thomas Heaton v. State Pending 
 
2011-UP-462-Bartley v. Ford  Motor Co. Pending 
 
2011-UP-463-State v.  Rebekah  Rogers Pending 
 
2011-UP-468-Patricia Johnson v. BMW Manuf. Pending 
 
2011-UP-471-State v. Terrell McCoy Pending 
 
2011-UP-475-State v. James Austin Pending 
 
2011-UP-481-State v. Norris Smith Pending 

10 




 

 
  

    
 

 
  

 
   

 
 

 
 

        
 

 
   

 

 

 

 
                      

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 
    

2011-UP-495-State v. Arthur Rivers Pending 

2011-UP-496-State v. Coaxum  Pending 

2011-UP-502-Heath Hill v. SCDHEC and SCE&G Pending 

2011-UP-503-State v. William Ricky Welch Pending 

2011-UP-516-Vaughn Smith v. SCDPPPS    Pending 

2011-UP-517-N. M. McLean et al. v. James B. Drennan, III Pending 

2011-UP-519-Stevens & Wilkinson v. City of Columbia Pending 

2011-UP-522-State v. Michael D. Jackson Pending 

2011-UP-550-McCaskill v. Roth Pending 

2011-UP-558-State v. Tawanda Williams Pending 

2011-UP-562-State v. Tarus Henry Pending 

2011-UP-565-Griggs v. Ashley Towne Village            Pending 

2011-UP-572-State v. Reico Welch Pending 

2011-UP-581-On Time Transp. v.  SCWC Unins. Emp. Fund Pending 

2011-UP-583-State v. David Lee Coward Pending 

2011-UP-587-Trinity Inv. v. Marina Ventures  Pending 

2011-UP-590-A. Leon Ravenell v. Nancy Meyer Pending 

2012-UP-003-In the matter of the care and treatment of G. Gonzalez Pending 

2012-UP-008-SCDSS v. Michelle D.C. Pending 

2012-UP-010-State v. Norman Mitchell Pending 

2012-UP-014-State v. Andre Norris Pending 

11 




 

 
2012-UP-018-State  v. Robert Phipps      Pending 
 
2012-UP-030-Babaee v. Moisture  Warranty Corp. Pending 
 
2012-UP-037-Livingston v. Danube Valley Pending 
 
2012-UP-058-State  v. Andra Byron Jamison    Pending 
 
2012-UP-060-Austin v. Stone Pending 
 
2012-UP-081-Hueble v. Vaughn Pending 
 
2012-UP-089-State v. A. Williamson Pending 
 
2012-UP-091-State v. Mike Salley Pending 
 
2012-UP-152-State  v. Kevin Shane Epting Pending 
 
2012-UP-153-McCall v. Sandvik, Inc. Pending 
 
2012-UP-203-State v. Dominic Leggette Pending 
 
2012-UP-217-Forest Beach Owners' Assoc. v. C. Bair   Pending 
 
2012-UP-218-State v. Adrian Eaglin Pending 
 
2012-UP-219-Dale Hill et al. v. Deertrack Golf and Country Club Pending 
 
2012-UP-267-State v. James Craig White    Pending 
 
2012-UP-270-National Grange Ins. Co. v. Phoenix Contract  Pending 

Glass, LLC, et al. 
 
2012-UP-274-Passaloukas v. Bensch Pending 
 
2012-UP-276-Regions Bank v. Stonebridge Development et al. Pending 
 
2012-UP-278-State v. Hazard Cameron Pending 
 
2012-UP-285-State v. Jacob M. Breda     Pending 
 

12 




 

2012-UP-290-State v. Eddie Simmons  Pending 
 
2012-UP-292-Demetrius Ladson v. Harvest Hope   Pending 
 
2012-UP-293-Clegg v. Lambrecht      Pending   
 
2012-UP-302-Maple v. Heritage Healthcare    Pending 
 
2012-UP-312-State v. Edward Twyman     Pending 
 
2012-UP-314-Grand Bees Development v. SCDHEC et al.   Pending 
 
2012-UP-321-James Tinsley v. State Pending 
 
2012-UP-348-State v. Jack Harrison, Jr.     Pending 
 
2012-UP-365-Patricia E. King and Robbie King Jones, as  Pending 

representatives of W.R. King and Ellen King v. Margie 
          B. King and Robbie Ione King, individually and as 
          co-representatives of the estate of Christopher G. King et al. 
 
2012-UP-404-McDonnell and Assoc v. First Citizens Bank  Pending 
 
2012-UP-432-State v. Bryant Kinloch Pending 
 
2012-UP-433-Jeffrey D. Allen v. S.C. Budget and Control Bd. Pending 
          Employee Insurance Plan et al. 
 
2012-UP-460-Figueroa v. CBI/Columbia Place Mall et al.  Pending 
 
2012-UP-502-Hurst v.  Board of Dentistry Pending 
 
2012-UP-504-Palmetto Bank v. Cardwell  Pending 
 
 

13 
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v. 
 
South Carolina Department of Health 

and Environmental Control and Mayo Read, Jr., 
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John P. Seibels, Jr. and Jason S. Luck, both of The 
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Richard L. Tapp, Jr. and Stephen P. Groves, Sr., both of 
Nexsen Pruet, LLC, of Charleston, for Respondent Mayo 
Read. 

PER CURIAM: We granted a writ of certiorari to review the court of 
appeals' decision in Too Tacky Partnership v. South Carolina Department of 
Health and Environmental Control, 386 S.C. 32, 686 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2009). 
We now dismiss the writ as improvidently granted.  

DISMISSED AS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED. 

TOAL, C.J., PLEICONES, BEATTY, KITTREDGE, JJ., and 
Acting Justice James E. Moore, concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Court of Appeals 


Gregory H. Jenkins, Respondent, 

v. 

Shaniqua D. Jenkins, Appellant. 

Appellate Case No. 2010-152986 

Appeal From Charleston County 

Paul W. Garfinkel, Family Court Judge
 

Opinion No. 5058 

Heard May 8, 2012 – Filed December 5, 2012 


AFFIRMED AS MODIFIED and REMANDED 

Shaniqua D. Green, formerly Shaniqua D. Jenkins, of 
Charleston, pro se, for Appellant. 

Justin Scott Byars, of Mays Foster Gunter & Murphy, 
LLP, of Columbia, for Respondent. 

WILLIAMS, J.: Shaniqua D. Jenkins (Wife) appeals the family court's division of 
Gregory H. Jenkins' (Husband) military retirement benefits, arguing the date of 
valuation for the retirement benefits and the percentage awarded to Wife was 
incorrect. In addition, Wife asserts the family court's reliance on Wolfe v. Wolfe, 
220 S.C. 437, 68 S.E.2d 348 (1951), was a violation of her equal protection rights 
because that decision relies on outdated views regarding women.  Wife also claims 
the family court improperly imputed income to Husband and improperly reduced 
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Husband's child support obligation.  Finally, Wife argues Husband's assertion that 
the vehicle debt is not subject to equitable distribution is flawed because there is 
significant evidence of joint benefit. We affirm as modified and remand.  

FACTS 

Husband and Wife married on August 14, 1993, when Husband was twenty-three 
years old and Wife was twenty-one years old.  Once the parties married, they 
moved to Fort Polk, Louisiana where Husband was stationed with the United 
States Army for approximately two years.  During that time, they had one 
daughter, Tylia, born on June 11, 1994. One month after Tylia was born, the 
parties agreed to let Wife's mother care for Tylia in Charleston, South Carolina.  
According to Wife, they agreed upon this arrangement so they could try to 
reconcile their marital differences and work out their financial issues. Shortly 
thereafter, Wife moved back to Charleston to work for the Charleston County 
Sheriff's Department as a police officer.  Wife testified the decision to move back 
to Charleston was motivated by their financial issues and her desire to further her 
education so it would be easier to find a job when Husband was again transferred 
in the military. 

When questioned at the final hearing about her desire to pursue additional 
education, Wife testified the Sheriff's Department was changing rapidly, and to be 
promoted, she needed to improve her education more.  To that end, Wife began 
attending North Carolina Central University in 1997 where she double majored in 
English and Political Science, receiving her B.A. degree in 1999.  The same year 
she obtained her B.A. degree from North Carolina Central University, she decided 
to move to Washington, D.C.  Initially, she lived with a relative, and her mother 
took care of Tylia and her son from a previous relationship.  Wife testified 
Husband talked about relocating to D.C., but this fell through, and Husband filed 
for divorce in 2000.  According to Wife, the parties did not pursue the divorce 
because Husband thought they could reconcile their marital differences. 

Wife stated she could not earn an adequate living with only a bachelor's degree, so 
between 2000 and 2004, she earned her paralegal certification as well as a master's 
degree in Public Policy and Social Policy from Georgetown University.  During 
this time, Wife's mother assisted Wife in caring for the children.  After obtaining 
her master's degree in 2004, she worked for a judge in New York for two years, 
and then she returned to Washington, D.C.  Her children lived with her in 
Maryland while she worked at various agencies within the federal government.  In 
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2006, Wife's mother, who lived in Charleston, died from cancer.  After her 
mother's death, Wife accepted a job offer in Charleston, and moved back that same 
year to Charleston with her children.  She remained in Charleston a year before 
returning to Washington, D.C. in 2008, where she and her children were living on 
the date of the final hearing. 

Husband also testified at the final hearing about the parties' relationship and living 
arrangements during their marriage.  Husband stated he was transferred from Fort 
Polk, Louisiana to Fort Bliss, Texas in 1996 where he served for two years.  Wife 
chose not to move to Fort Bliss, instead remaining in Charleston with her mother, 
Tylia, and her son. In 1998, Husband was deployed for one year to Korea.  When 
Husband returned in 1999, he moved to Fort Gordon, Georgia where he was 
stationed with periodic overseas deployments until he retired from the military on 
January 1, 2009. Upon Husband's retirement, he began to receive $1,878 per 
month in military retirement benefits.   

Prior to Husband's retirement in January 2009, the parties agreed to end the 
marriage in November 2007.  Husband filed a petition for divorce on January 9, 
2008. Wife filed an answer and counterclaimed for equitable distribution of 
personal property and debts, division of Husband's retirement benefits, child 
custody, child support, and attorney's fees.  Both parties agreed they lived together 
for only approximately three and a half years of their sixteen-year marriage. 

The family court held a hearing on August 24, 2009. In its final order filed on 
October 1, 2009, the family court granted the parties a divorce based on one year's 
continuous separation. The court awarded the parties joint custody of their 
daughter, Tylia. In its computation of child support, the family court imputed an 
additional $2,000 to Husband as income based on his 2008 earnings.  With 
Husband's monthly military retirement pay of $1,878, Husband's monthly income 
totaled $3,878, and Wife's monthly income was $8,500.  Based on this income, 
Husband was required to pay Wife $321 per month in child support.   

The family court ordered the parties to maintain all real and personal property in 
their respective possessions. It also required each party to pay his or her own debts 
incurred since the parties' separation on May 15, 1995, which included Wife's 
college expenses and the outstanding debt on Wife's car.  In determining Wife's 
entitlement to Husband's military retirement benefits, the family court found Wife 
was only entitled to the portion of his benefits that accrued during the three and a 
half years the parties lived together. As such, the family court awarded Wife half 
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of the benefits accruing during that time period for a net monthly payment of 
$144.94.1 

Wife filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion for reconsideration, arguing, among other 
things, the family court improperly calculated Wife's share of Husband's military 
retirement benefits.  Wife argued Husband received $1,878 per month in retirement 
benefits, and because Husband acquired the majority of these benefits during their 
sixteen-year marriage, she was entitled to 50% of those benefits, or $939 per 
month.  The family court issued an amended order on January 27, 2010, and 
calculated Wife's share of the retirement benefits based on the total number of 
years of marriage, but instead of awarding Wife 50%, it awarded Wife 11% of the 
marital share of the benefits, resulting in the same monthly payout to Wife as 
contained in the original October 2009 order.2 

In support of its decision, the family court stated,  

This Court feels that to award [Wife] an amount greater 
than this would be to reward a spouse who 1) benefitted 

1 In its calculation, the family court found the marital portion of the retirement 
benefits by dividing the number of years the parties lived together by the number 
of years of Husband's military service, and then it found Wife was entitled to half 
of that sum, which equated to approximately 9% of Husband's entire retirement 
benefits. (3.5/20.42 = .1714; .1714 x .50 = .0857 (or 9%)).  It multiplied this share 
by Husband's monthly retirement check of $1,878 and found Wife should receive 
$160.94, less 10% taxes, totaling approximately $144.94 per month from Husband. 
We note that Defense Finance and Accounting Services (DFAS) was not directly 
paying Wife her portion of Husband's retirement benefits when the final order was 
issued. Because DFAS normally directly deducts taxes from payments such as 
these, the family court temporarily accounted for payment between the parties by 
deducting 10% from the amount owed to Wife. 

2 In its recalculation, the family court found the marital share of the retirement 
benefits to be 78%. To reach this figure, it divided the number of years the parties 
were married by the number of years of Husband's military service. (16/20.42 = 
.7835 (or 78%)). Based on its conclusion that Wife was entitled to 11% of the 
marital portion, or approximately 9% of Husband's entire military benefits, it 
awarded Wife approximately the same monthly payout as in the October 2009 
order. (.7835 x 0.11 (or 11%) = .086 (9%); .086 x $1,878 = $161.51). 
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greatly from her estrangement from her husband[;] 2) 
was not a credible witness[;] 3) does not need the funds 
as greatly as the other party[;] and, finally 4) will, for the 
foreseeable future, always be in a much better financial 
position than the other party. 

The family court affirmed the remainder of its original order.  This appeal 
followed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"The family court is a court of equity."  Lewis v. Lewis, 392 S.C. 381, 386, 709 
S.E.2d 650, 652 (2011). In appeals from the family court, the appellate court 
reviews factual and legal issues de novo. Simmons v. Simmons, 392 S.C. 412, 414, 
709 S.E.2d 666, 667 (2011). "De novo review permits appellate court fact-finding, 
notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the [family] court's findings."  
Lewis, 392 S.C. at 390, 709 S.E.2d at 654-55. However, this broad standard of 
review does not require the appellate court to disregard the factual findings of the 
family court or ignore the fact that the family court is in the better position to 
assess the credibility of the witnesses. Pinckney v. Warren, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 
S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of the burden of 
demonstrating error in the family court's findings of fact.  Id. at 387-88, 544 S.E.2d 
at 623. Accordingly, we will affirm the decision of the family court unless its 
decision is controlled by some error of law or the appellant satisfies the burden of 
showing the preponderance of the evidence actually supports contrary factual 
findings by this court.  See Lewis, 392 S.C. at 390, 709 S.E.2d at 654-55. 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

(1)Wife's Share of Husband's Retirement Plan 

Wife first argues her direct and indirect contributions to the marriage entitled her to 
a greater share of the marital estate.3  Thus, Wife argues the family court erred in 

3 In Wife's first argument on appeal, she does not detail which marital assets the 
family court improperly divided, only that it failed to satisfactorily consider her 
contributions to the marriage in its division of the marital estate.  Because the only 
marital asset at issue is Husband's military retirement benefits, we combine her 
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only apportioning Wife 11%4 of the marital share of Husband's retirement benefits 
and in valuing Husband's retirement plan as of May 15, 1995, because the parties 
were not legally separated at that time.  We agree in part.  

In apportioning the marital estate, the family court must consider fifteen criteria 
specified by section 20-3-620 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2011), giving to 
each such weight as it finds appropriate based on the facts of the case.  See 
Johnson v. Johnson, 296 S.C. 289, 297, 372 S.E.2d 107, 112 (Ct. App. 1988).  
These criteria guide the family court in exercising its discretion over 
apportionment of the marital property and are nothing more than equities to be 
considered in reaching a fair distribution of marital property.  Id. at 297-98, 372 
S.E.2d at 112. The criteria subserve the ultimate goal of apportionment, which is 
to divide the marital estate, as a whole, in a manner which fairly reflects each 
spouse's contribution to the economic partnership and also the relative effect of 
ending that partnership on each of the parties. Sanders v. Sanders, 396 S.C. 410, 
418, 722 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 2011). 

Military retirement benefits accrued during the marriage are subject to equitable 
distribution.  Tiffault v. Tiffault, 303 S.C. 391, 393, 401 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1991).  
The appropriate factors to consider when making an equitable distribution award 
include the following: 

(1) the duration of the marriage along with the ages of the 
parties at the time of the marriage and at the time of the 
divorce; (2) marital misconduct or fault of either or both 
parties, if the misconduct affects or has affected the 
economic circumstances of the parties or contributed to 
the breakup of the marriage; (3) the value of the marital 
property and the contribution of each spouse to the 
acquisition, preservation, depreciation, or appreciation in 
value of the marital property, including the contribution 

first and second issues on appeal and address her argument as it pertains to the 
family court's division of Husband's military retirement benefits.  

4 Wife claims the family court awarded Wife only 1% of Husband's retirement 
benefits. This calculation is inaccurate.  The family court awarded Wife 
approximately 9% of Husband's entire retirement benefits or 11% of what he 
accrued during the course of their sixteen-year marriage.  

21
 



 

 

of the spouse as homemaker; (4) the income of each 
spouse, the earning potential of each spouse, and the 
opportunity for future acquisition of capital assets; (5) the 
health, both physical and emotional, of each spouse; (6) 
either spouse's need for additional training or education 
in order to achieve that spouse's income potential; (7) the 
nonmarital property of each spouse; (8) the existence or 
nonexistence of vested retirement benefits for either 
spouse; (9) whether separate maintenance or alimony has 
been awarded; (10) the desirability of awarding to the 
spouse having custody of any children the family home 
as part of equitable distribution or the right to live in it 
for reasonable periods; (11) the tax consequences to 
either party as a result of equitable apportionment; (12) 
the existence and extent of any prior support obligations; 
(13) liens and any other encumbrances on the marital 
property and any other existing debts; (14) child custody 
arrangements and obligations at the time of the entry of 
the order; and (15) any other relevant factors that the 
family court expressly enumerates in its order. 

§ 20-3-620(B). 

Reviewing the record and the family court's order, we hold the family court took 
these statutory factors into consideration when it chose to award Wife a share of 
Husband's retirement benefits.  In its order awarding Wife a portion of Husband's 
retirement benefits, the family court stated, 

This Court feels that to award [Wife] an amount greater 
than [11%] would be to reward a spouse who 1) 
benefitted greatly from her estrangement from her 
husband[;] 2) was not a credible witness[;] 3) does not 
need the funds as greatly as the other party[;] and, finally 
4) will, for the foreseeable future, always be in a much 
better financial position than the other party. 

In addition, the family court held that Wife's income far exceeded that of Husband, 
even if he were to maintain employment that paid him similar to what he earned 
for a brief period in 2008 when he was a technical instructor for military recruits.  
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Without any evidence that Husband had the ability to earn more, the family court 
concluded Husband needed the income from his retirement benefits much more 
than Wife. 

Reviewing the parties' financial declarations and income tax returns, we agree that 
Husband demonstrated a greater need for his retirement benefits.  Wife earned 
$58,266 in 2006, $61,814 in 2007, and $93,336 in 2008.  These earnings are 
supported by her financial declaration submitted to the family court at the final 
hearing, in which she claimed she earned $7,875 per month.  Husband, on the other 
hand, earned $26,665 in 2006, $3,3445 in 2007, and $41,338 in 2008. On the date 
of the final hearing, Husband had retired and stated his only current income was 
$1,878 in monthly military retirement benefits.  

The family court also considered Wife's superior education and training, which 
would allow her to continue to achieve income that far exceeded that of Husband.  
As required by section 20-3-620, the family court noted that neither party had 
acquired non-marital property, alimony was not at issue, and neither party had 
additional support obligations outside the marriage.  Although the family court 
recognized Wife incurred college loan debts during their marriage to further her 
education, it concluded this was "an excellent investment on her part because it has 
resulted in a good job with many benefits."  Last, the family court acknowledged 
Wife was in excellent health, whereas, Husband had significant health issues that 
limited his ability to earn an income. 

While we concur with the family court's findings, we conclude Wife's 
contributions to the marriage entitled her to a greater share of Husband's military 
retirement benefits.  Specifically, Wife was the primary caretaker for the parties' 
daughter throughout their marriage and assumed a greater financial role in their 
child's upbringing than Husband.  Wife cites to several cases in support of her 
claim that she is entitled to share equally in Husband's retirement benefits.  Even 
though these cases lend support for Wife's argument that she is entitled to a greater 
share, we find the factual circumstances in those cases distinguishable from those 
of Husband and Wife. Unlike those cases, Wife and Husband shared a marital 
home for only a small portion of their marriage; Wife never traveled with Husband 
to any of his deployments, either in the States or abroad; and Wife had a superior 

5 Husband's diminished income in 2007 was due to his overseas deployment. 
Husband testified he earned "more than normal" in 2007, but because he was 
deployed overseas, he was not required to pay federal taxes.  
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education and income to that of Husband. See Ball v. Ball, 314 S.C. 445, 448, 445 
S.E.2d 449, 451 (1994) (finding wife was entitled to 23% of husband's nonvested 
military retirement benefits when parties were married for ten years, wife moved 
numerous times with husband over the course of the marriage, and wife cared for 
husband's two children from a prior marriage); Curry v. Curry, 309 S.C. 539, 541-
42, 424 S.E.2d 552, 554 (Ct. App. 1992) (awarding wife 40% of husband's military 
retirement when wife moved from place to place for the benefit of husband's 
military career, wife was a homemaker at husband's insistence, wife only had a 
high school education, and husband committed adultery); Connors v. Connors, 310 
S.C. 76, 79, 425 S.E.2d 65, 67 (Ct. App. 1992) (awarding wife 40% of husband's 
military retirement where wife moved and traveled with husband, took an active 
role in his military career, was physically abused by husband, was partially 
disabled while husband was in good health, and had inadequate income and 
earning potential). Accordingly, we hold a more equitable apportionment is to 
award Wife 20% of the marital portion of Husband's retirement benefits that 
accrued during the marriage. Thus, we modify the family court's order to reflect 
this adjustment and remand for a recalculation of Wife's entitlement consistent 
with this opinion. 

Wife also claims the family court erred in calculating her entitlement to Husband's 
military retirement benefits based on the approximate date of May 15, 1995, when 
she moved from Fort Polk, Louisiana, to Charleston, South Carolina, instead of the 
filing date6 in October 2009. While the family court initially valued Wife's share 
of Husband's military benefits based on the three and a half years that the parties 
admitted they lived together over the course of their sixteen-year marriage and 
awarded Wife half of that amount, it changed the valuation date in its amended 
final order. In the amended final order, the family court based Wife's entitlement 
to Husband's military benefits on their sixteen-year marriage.  As a result, we find 
the family court chose the proper valuation date for calculating Wife's share of 
Husband's retirement benefits. 

6 Wife misstates the filing date of this action in her brief. Husband filed for 
divorce on January 9, 2008, and the family court entered a final order granting the 
parties a divorce on October 1, 2009. Because the parties were legally married to 
each other for a period slightly over sixteen years, we find the family court did not 
err in this respect. 
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(2)Reliance on Wolfe v. Wolfe 

Wife argues the family court improperly relied on Wolfe v. Wolfe, 220 S.C. 437, 
440, 68 S.E.2d 348, 349 (1951), which states that "the husband has the right, acting 
reasonably, to choose where the family shall reside, and when the wife refuses to 
go with him, she is guilty of desertion." She claims that certain findings of fact in 
the amended final order create a gender-based classification and rely upon outdated 
views, such as those from Wolfe, which violate the Equal Protection Clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment.  We find this argument is not properly before this court. 

Upon review of the family court's initial final order and its amended final order, 
there is no mention of or reliance upon Wolfe. Moreover, Wife did not raise this 
issue in her Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to reconsider. See Barrow v. Barrow, 394 
S.C. 603, 615, 716 S.E.2d 302, 309 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding an issue was not 
preserved for review because family court did not address it in its order and party 
failed to raise it in Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion).  Thus, we decline to address this 
argument. 

(3)Husband's Income 

Next, Wife avers the family court understated Husband's income at the final 
hearing and should have instead relied upon Husband's 2008 earnings in 
determining Husband's child support obligation.  In addition, Wife claims the 
family court erred in reducing Husband's child support obligation without 
sufficient evidence of changed circumstances.  We disagree. 

The family court has the discretion to impute income to a party with respect to 
awards of alimony or child support.  Sanderson v. Sanderson, 391 S.C. 249, 255, 
705 S.E.2d 65, 68 (Ct. App. 2010).  If the obligor spouse has the ability to earn 
more income than he is earning, the family court may impute income according to 
what he could earn by using his best efforts to gain employment equal to his 
capabilities. Dixon v. Dixon, 334 S.C. 222, 240, 512 S.E.2d 539, 548 (Ct. App. 
1999) (citing 24A Am.Jur.2d, Divorce & Separation § 781 (1998)); see also 
Blackwell v. Fulgum, 375 S.C. 337, 347, 652 S.E.2d 427, 432 (Ct. App. 2007) 
(stating imputing income to a party who is voluntarily unemployed or 
underemployed is appropriate when determining child support obligations).  An 
award of alimony based on such imputation may be a proper exercise of discretion 
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even if it exhausts the obligor spouse's actual income.  Dixon, 334 S.C. at 240, 512 
S.E.2d at 548. 

In the family court's final order, it found Husband received $1,878 per month in 
military retirement benefits.  However, the family court chose to impute an 
additional $2,000 per month to Husband based on his earnings from part of 2008 
for a total of $3,878 per month in gross income.  Although Wife claims the family 
court should have imputed earnings to Husband based on his 2008 income on his 
tax return of $41,338, or $3,445 per month, the family court actually imputed more 
income to Husband than Wife is now claiming should be imputed on appeal.  
Husband claims we should agree with Wife on this issue, thereby reducing his 
child support obligation. Despite Wife's argument and Husband's concession, we 
hold it is appropriate to affirm the family court's calculation because this figure 
was within the range of evidence presented to the family court.  See generally 
Bennett v. Rector, 389 S.C. 274, 280, 697 S.E.2d 715, 718 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding 
mother had the ability to earn between $149,000 and $252,000 based on her own 
testimony and choosing to impute the lower salary to mother to establish her 
grossly month income for purposes of establishing her child support obligation); 
Spreeuw v. Barker, 385 S.C. 45, 65-66, 682 S.E.2d 843, 853-54 (Ct. App. 2009) 
(finding family court properly resorted to evidence presented at trial, namely 
father's monthly law firm withdrawals and corporate income tax returns, in 
determining father's gross income for purposes of calculating his child support 
obligation). Husband also testified at trial that he would be receiving a $500 
monthly stipend from the Department of Veteran Affairs, which was not listed on 
his financial declaration.  Adding this amount to Wife's figure equates to almost 
the exact figure the family court imputed to Husband for purposes of calculating 
child support. See McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 
1987) ("[W]hatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter.").  Accordingly, 
we find the family court did not err in imputing $2,000 in income to Husband 
because Wife failed to demonstrate the family court's calculation prejudiced her.  
See Cox v. Cox, 290 S.C. 245, 248, 349 S.E.2d 92, 94 (Ct. App. 1986) (stating 
appellant has the burden of showing that family court's error was prejudicial). 

Wife also claims the family court erred in reducing Husband's child support 
obligation because Husband failed to submit sufficient evidence of changed 
circumstances.  We disagree. 

Initially, we note Wife failed to include the family court's prior order setting forth 
the amount of temporary child support in the record on appeal.  See Bonaparte v. 
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Floyd, 291 S.C. 427, 444, 354 S.E.2d 40, 50 (Ct. App. 1987) (stating the appellant 
bears the burden of providing a record on appeal sufficient for intelligent review); 
see also Rule 210(h), SCACR ("Except as provided by Rule 212 and Rule 
208(b)(1)(C) and (2), the appellate court will not consider any fact which does not 
appear in the Record on Appeal.").  Regardless, the prior child support order was 
issued pendente lite; therefore, any change in circumstances was not dispositive of 
Husband's obligation.  The temporary child support order was simply that, a 
temporary agreement reached in contemplation of further negotiations and/or 
judicial proceedings. See Eubank v. Eubank, 347 S.C. 367, 373-74, 555 S.E.2d 
413, 416 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding the family court erred in treating a temporary 
order as a final adjudication of the parties' rights and responsibilities because it was 
only a temporary agreement, and as such, did not permanently resolve whether the 
husband was entitled to a modification or termination of his support obligation).  
Thus, we affirm the family court on this issue.   

Despite our affirmance of the family court's award of child support under the final 
order, our decision to increase Wife's share of Husband's military retirement 
benefits diminishes Husband's gross income.  Because Husband's income will be 
decreased as a result of this decision, his child support obligation will likewise be 
affected. As a result, we remand the issue of child support to the family court for a 
recalculation based on Husband's adjusted gross income.  See Spreeuw v. Barker, 
385 S.C. 45, 69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding family court erred 
in including certain debts in father's gross income for purposes of child support and 
remanding for a recalculation of father's child support obligation based on this 
decrease in income); Arnal v. Arnal, 363 S.C. 268, 283, 609 S.E.2d 821, 829 (Ct. 
App. 2005) aff'd as modified, 371 S.C. 10, 636 S.E.2d 864 (2006) (finding family 
court erred in amount it imputed to father as income and remanding the issue of 
child support for recalculation based on the proper income).   

(4)Nissan Sentra 

Last, Wife argues the family court improperly required her to pay the remaining 
debt of $4,513.06 on the parties' Nissan Sentra when Husband also benefitted from 
the use of the vehicle. We disagree. 

For purposes of equitable distribution, "marital debt" is debt incurred for the joint 
benefit of the parties regardless of whether the parties are legally jointly liable for 
the debt or whether one party is legally individually liable. Hardy v. Hardy, 311 
S.C. 433, 436-37, 429 S.E.2d 811, 813 (Ct. App. 1993). 
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At trial, Husband stated he initially drove the Nissan Sentra.  At the time he was 
driving the Nissan Sentra, Husband had purchased a Honda Accord for Wife, 
which she was driving. Husband, however, told Wife he was unable to afford both 
car payments. Husband missed three car payments, and the bank repossessed the 
Nissan Sentra. Wife eventually got the Nissan Sentra back and owned that car on 
the date of the final hearing. 

Husband's and Wife's vehicles were purchased during the marriage; thus, the 
vehicles were marital property.  Viewing the overall apportionment of the marital 
estate, we find the family court had the discretion to require the parties to pay the 
debt on the vehicle in their respective possession. See Sanders v. Sanders, 396 
S.C. 410, 419, 722 S.E.2d 15, 19 (Ct. App. 2011) (in reviewing the division of 
marital property, this court looks to the fairness of the overall apportionment and 
will affirm if the end result is equitable).  Husband's financial declaration reflects 
his monthly car payment was $410, and Wife's financial declaration reflects her 
monthly car payment was $732.  Based on the parties' incomes, we find it 
reasonable to require each party to pay for their own vehicle.  See Thomson v. 
Thomson, 377 S.C. 613, 624, 661 S.E.2d 130, 136 (Ct. App. 2008) ("The same 
rules of fairness and equity that apply to the equitable distribution of marital 
property also apply to the equitable division of marital debts.").  Although both of 
these vehicles were purchased during the course of the parties' marriage, we find 
that Wife's sole use and ownership of the Nissan Sentra on the date of the final 
hearing support the family court's decision to require Wife to pay the outstanding 
debt on the vehicle. See Woodward v. Woodward, 294 S.C. 210, 216, 363 S.E.2d 
413, 417 (Ct. App. 1987) (finding that although debt was acquired during parties' 
marriage, the family court had the ability to require husband to repay entirety of 
marital debt, particularly when husband had a greater ability to pay).  Accordingly, 
we affirm the family court's decision on this issue. 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the family court's decision is 

AFFIRMED AS MODIFIED and REMANDED. 

THOMAS and LOCKEMY, JJ., concur.  
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CURETON, A.J.: Kellie N. Burnette appeals the circuit court's order affirming the 
decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission (Commission).  Burnette 
argues the circuit court erred in affirming because the evidence in the record does 
not support the Commission's findings that (1) Burnette did not injure her lower 
back in her June 2007 incident, (2) Burnette is not permanently and totally 
disabled, and (3) Burnette's testimony was not credible.  We reverse as to the June 
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2007 injury to Burnette's lower back, remand to the Commission for the entry of 
findings of fact concerning the lumbar injury and Burnette's disability rating, and 
decline to address the issue of credibility. 

FACTS 

I. First Injury and 2004 MRI 

After becoming a police officer for the City of Greenville (City1) in 2001, Burnette 
suffered two work-related injuries.  On August 23, 2003, she was driving a patrol 
car when a fleeing suspect in a stolen car collided with the driver's side in a "t­
bone" accident. Burnette suffered a broken nose and injuries down her left side to 
her ankle, including her neck and lower back.  In addition to surgery to repair her 
nose, Burnette received two months of physical therapy but continued experiencing 
chronic lower back pain. After the incident, she experienced continuing pain 
localized to her mid- and lower back.  Although she was rated as having a 17.5% 
disability to her back, Burnette returned to work to full duty.     

On June 21, 2004, Burnette began seeing Dr. Kopera for pain management.  Dr. 
Kopera reviewed an MRI taken May 11, 2004, which he deemed normal.  On 
August 19, 2004, Dr. Kopera determined Burnette had reached maximum medical 
improvement (MMI) but had a 5% permanent impairment to her lumbar spine.  He 
noted Burnette presented with lower back pain but "no radicular symptoms," rated 
her pain at a 7 out of 10, and displayed excellent range of motion at the waist.  
During the course of treating Burnette, Dr. Kopera found chronic pain or 
tenderness in the lumbar region that by 2006 had moved to the thoracic region.  He 
believed the pain was largely myofascial in nature.  In April 2006, Dr. Kopera 
prescribed physical therapy for Burnette, which helped.  She continued seeing Dr. 
Kopera until 2007, when he closed his practice and referred her to Dr. 
Satterthwaite. 

During the summer of 2005, Burnette also saw Dr. Schwartz for pain management.  
Dr. Schwartz noted she presented with pain in her lower back, neck, interscapular 
area, and thoracolumbar region. He supplemented Burnette's oral pain medications 
with injections. On August 23, 2005, Dr. Schwartz opined Burnette had reached 

1 This term also collectively references the City of Greenville and its insurance 
administrator, Hewitt Coleman & Associates.   
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MMI from her 2003 injuries but had a permanent spinal impairment of 13%, which 
consisted of an 8% lumbar impairment and a 5% cervical impairment.  

II. Second Injury and Medical Retirement 

On June 16, 2007, Burnette attempted to wrestle a suspect out of a car while her 
partner unsuccessfully tried to tase the suspect.  With Burnette partially inside the 
vehicle, the suspect drove forward.  First dragged by the car and then thrown from 
it, Burnette landed against a curb and felt a shock in her neck, head, and lower 
back. Burnette began missing work and was placed on light duty.  Ten months 
later, on April 17, 2008, the South Carolina Retirement System placed Burnette on 
disability retirement from the police force with a recommendation that she be 
examined again in three years.   

On August 28, 2007, Burnette began seeing Dr. Satterthwaite and his staff.  She 
reported pain in the thoracic and lumbar regions that started after the 2003 car 
wreck. The treatment notes from Burnette's first visit indicate Dr. Hutcheson of 
that office reviewed her 2004 MRI and recorded seeing minimal disk bulges 
without stenosis at L4-5 and L5-S1.  In early September 2007, Burnette reported 
neck and lower back pain she rated at 9 out of 10.  Two weeks later, she rated the 
pain at 8. Dr. Satterthwaite noted Burnette had suffered "an injury in June where 
she hurt her neck" and that the "[c]urrent increased neck pain seem[ed] to have 
been [aggravated] by an injury in June when she was jerked by a car trying to leave 
the scene." 

In October 2007, Dr. Satterthwaite examined Burnette with an eye toward making 
recommendations to the City's workers' compensation insurance administrator.  At 
that time, Burnette rated her pain at 6 out of 10 but noted the pain increased when 
she sat or stood for long periods or entered or exited a car.  In response to his 
question whether she might apply for a secretarial job, Burnette told Dr. 
Satterthwaite she was "not interested in a desk job but [did] state that she ha[d] 
applied for [a] teaching position, which would not require her to wear the vest and 
belt and [would] allow her to change positions frequently from standing to sitting."  
Noting the workers' compensation adjuster had asked him to define work 
restrictions for Burnette, Dr. Satterthwaite stated:   
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She is currently working unrestricted.  She does not want 
significant restrictions that would place her at a desk job 
or remove her from her job completely.  She does feel 
that she would benefit from limitations to standing and 
sitting to one hour at a time without rest breaks.  She was 
on her feet working last weekend for several hours, and 
that was quite uncomfortable to both her neck and back.   

She has applied for [a] teaching position, which sounds 
ideal for her. I would strongly recommend that she be 
seriously considered for that position as I think she is a 
dedicated officer and wishes to continue working in law 
enforcement.  It would also be good to get her out of the 
patrol car so that she does not have to use it for long 
periods with poor back support and get in and out of the 
vehicle. The belt and vest are quite heavy and do alter 
her posture with sitting and standing, increasing 
problems with her spinal alignment and the potential for 
increasing her neck and back pain. 

III. 2008 MRI and Neck Surgery 

Burnette did not get the teaching job, but her pain rating remained relatively stable 
at 7 out of 10 until February 2008, when it reached 8.  In January 2008, Burnette 
underwent an MRI of her lumbar spine, which showed a minimal central disk 
protrusion without stenosis or impingement at L5-S1.  A few days later, Dr. 
Satterthwaite's nurse practitioner noted Burnette had a herniated disk at L5-S1 and 
lumbar radiculopathy.  In March 2008, rating her pain with medication at 5 out of 
10, Burnette was experiencing spasms in her back.  Dr. Satterthwaite's nurse 
practitioner referred her to physical therapy, noted they were "still awaiting 
approval for treatment of [the] neck," and indicated Burnette needed a sedentary 
job because she was unable to continue in her present position.  A series of 
epidural steroid injections followed from March through September 2008.  On 
September 15, 2008, Dr. Satterthwaite noted Burnette was suffering from increased 
back and leg pain. Despite receiving a pain injection two weeks earlier, on 
October 1, 2008, Burnette rated her pain at 9.   

On October 27, 2008, Dr. Bucci performed a cervical laminectomy on Burnette, 
fusing together her C4 and C5 vertebrae.  Following surgery, her neck pain 
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improved, but her back pain did not.  From March to May 2009, her overall pain 
rating decreased from 8 to 6.   

Dr. Bucci assessed Burnette's postsurgical condition twice.  First, on April 3, 2009, 
he completed a Physician's Statement for the Workers' Compensation Commission.  
In that document, he noted he had last seen Burnette on March 24, 2009, and she 
sustained a 10% medical impairment to her cervical spine.  In addition, he released 
her to return to work without restriction. 

On August 6, 2009, Dr. Bucci revised his medical opinion when he filled out a 
more detailed questionnaire for Burnette's counsel.  He stated Burnette suffered a 
28% "permanent impairment . . . to the whole person as a result of her cervical 
spine injury of 6/16/07."  He also acknowledged that when he completed the 
Physician's Statement, he was unaware of Burnette's disability retirement, 2003 
lumbar spine injury, ongoing treatment for pain and depression/anxiety, or her 
limitations resulting from those conditions.  Dr. Bucci concluded Burnette was not 
able to return to work without restriction. 

In the meantime, on June 22, 2009, Dr. Satterthwaite completed a workers' 
compensation questionnaire stating Burnette had reached MMI with regard to her 
June 16, 2007 injuries.  He assigned her a 72% impairment of the cervical spine, 
which translated to a 25% whole person impairment.  In his treatment notes from 
July 1, 2009, he added that Burnette also had a 16% permanent impairment of the 
lumbar spine, which corresponded to a 12% whole person impairment.  At that 
visit, Burnette rated her pain at 6 but complained it was in her neck, left arm to 
palm, back, and right leg.   

IV. Workers' Compensation Claim 

Burnette filed a Form 50, seeking total permanent disability for injuries to her 
neck, upper and lower back, and psyche from the June 2007 incident.  The City 
admitted her neck and upper back injuries but denied her claims of injuries to the 
lower back and psyche. The City maintained Burnette had received medical 
treatment, had reached MMI, and needed no further care for injuries sustained in 
the June 2007 incident.   
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The parties submitted extensive medical and psychological records2 for the single 
commissioner's consideration.  In addition, Burnette supported her claims with 
opinions and reports from her treating physicians and Benson Hecker, Ph.D., an 
expert in vocational rehabilitation who evaluated her employment prospects.  Dr. 
Hecker concluded Burnette would be "unable to perform any substantial gainful 
work activity which exists in significant numbers in open competition with others."   

A. Hearing Testimony regarding Injuries 

On September 3, 2009, the parties tried their case before the single commissioner.  
At that hearing, Burnette testified to the rigors and unpredictability of working as a 
police officer. She recalled wearing a uniform, duty belt, and bulletproof vest that 
together weighed approximately twenty-five pounds.  According to Burnette, an 
officer's duties were physically demanding and "would vary from day to day, hour 
to hour." Burnette testified that after the August 2003 incident, she experienced 
pain in her middle and lower back and pain that radiated into her arms.  At the time 
of the hearing, she claimed her pain went from her neck to her buttocks and, at 
times, radiated downward through a nerve into her leg.   

Burnette also testified to suffering from depression.  In addition, she claimed she 
experienced anxiety when riding in vehicles or being in crowds.  She stated she 
could sit or stand comfortably for approximately twenty to thirty minutes at a time 
and could alternate sitting and standing for up to three hours at a time.  Not only 
would pain prevent her from kneeling or walking more than a couple of blocks, she 
testified she had difficulty bending at the waist, twisting her back, squatting, or 
stooping. 

B. Hearing Testimony regarding the Boat Cover Incident 

On cross examination, Burnette acknowledged reporting to her doctors an incident 
that occurred in July 2009 when she and her friend were towing her parents' boat 
from Columbia to Greenville.  According to the doctor's notes, Burnette "recite[d] 
an incident on the weekend in which the sun cover on the boat flew off and she and 
a friend had to pick it up and put it in their truck.  Tuesday she start[ed] having 
increased lower back pain that radiates to her left and into her buttocks."  Burnette 

2 A component of Burnette's care with Dr. Satterthwaite was psychological care 
from Dr. Tollison and his staff.   
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stated the notes were incorrect, in that the boat belonged to her parents and the 
"cover" that blew off was a cushion. 

Burnette further explained that the cover blew off the boat and flew onto the 
highway, clipping the corner of the car behind her.  After Burnette pulled off the 
highway, her friend retrieved the cover from the road, and the two women "pushed 
it up in the truck." According to Burnette, her increased pain started while she was 
watering flowers on Tuesday following the Saturday incident.   

C. Procedure and Appeals 

On October 14, 2009, the single commissioner issued her order awarding Burnette 
seventy-five weeks of benefits for a 25% permanent partial disability to the spine. 
She found the June 2007 incident resulted in injuries to Burnette's neck and upper 
back with psychological overlay.  However, she also found the "greater weight of 
the evidence" did not support Burnette's claim of an injury to her lower back.   

The single commissioner examined Burnette's 2004 and 2008 MRIs and found the 
latter showed "only a 'minimal' protrusion with no nerve root displacement or 
impingement, and comparatively, no greater pathology of any significance (if any) 
than the MRI of 2004 . . . ."3  In addition, the single commissioner accepted 
without question Dr. Satterthwaite's June 22, 2009 statement that Burnette had 
reached MMI from her cervical injury and awarded benefits based upon his 
determination of a 25% whole person impairment corresponding to the cervical 
spine injury. However, she ignored his contemporaneous determination of a 12% 
whole person impairment corresponding to the lumbar spine injury.  Instead, the 
single commissioner found that "if [Burnette] aggravated her low back condition in 
the accident in issue, the aggravation was temporary, and her condition returned to 
baseline or is the result of an intervening accident," referring to either an 
unspecified event "in late 2008" or the boat cover incident.   

She further stated she "strongly believe[d]" Burnette had "exaggerated her 
condition to various providers and to the undersigned in order to 'maximize' her 
case/award."  Moreover, she stated Burnette struck her "as someone who simply 
[did] not wish to work (medical evidence as a whole; testimony of [Burnette], 
including but not limited to the issue of the amount of her monthly police disability 
income vis-à-vis her average weekly wage)."  The single commissioner found 

3 The record does not reflect that any physician expressed this opinion.  
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Burnette was "conversant with various levels of the spine by name," but she 
dismissed much of Burnette's testimony as being "liberally laced with 
exaggeration." Four out of twenty-four findings of fact relied at least in part on 
Burnette's interaction with her parents' boat.   

Both before and after the issuance of this order, Burnette sought leave to submit 
additional medical records in response to the boat cover incident.  The single 
commissioner denied her motions.   

On April 1, 2010, the Commission entered an order affirming and adopting 
verbatim the single commissioner's order.  Burnette appealed to the circuit court, 
which affirmed in a modified Form 4 order.  She then filed a motion to alter or 
amend the judgment, which was denied.  This appeal followed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") provides the standard for judicial 
review of decisions by the Commission. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 
534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 
276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, this court can reverse or modify the 
decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been 
prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly 
erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole 
record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2011); Transp. Ins. Co. v. 
S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010).   

The Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases.  Shealy 
v. Aiken Cnty., 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000).  As a general rule, 
this court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Commission if they are 
supported by substantial evidence. Pierre, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 
618. "Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a 
whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Commission 
reached."  Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 436, 645 S.E.2d 424, 431 
(2007). "The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the 
evidence does not prevent the Commission's finding from being supported by 
substantial evidence." Id. 

36 




 

 

 

 

  

LAW/ANALYSIS 

I. Injury to Lower Back 

First, Burnette asserts substantial evidence does not support the finding she did not 
injure her lower back in the June 2007 incident.  We agree. 

An injured employee "who has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting 
condition" may receive benefits for a subsequent work-related disability if he 
establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that "the subsequent injury 
aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment."  S.C. 
Code Ann. § 42-9-35 (Supp. 2011); see also Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 
318 S.C. 431, 436-37, 458 S.E.2d 76, 79 (Ct. App. 1995) (recognizing the "natural 
consequences flowing from a compensable injury, absent an independent 
intervening cause, are compensable," as well as the aggravation of "a [preexisting] 
condition, infirmity, or disease" by a work-related injury). Nonetheless, "an 
employee who suffers a subsequent injury which affects a single body part or 
member injury set forth in Section 42-9-30 is limited to the recovery set forth in 
that section." § 42-9-35. 

Although medical evidence "is entitled to great respect," the Commission is not 
bound by the opinions of medical experts and may disregard medical evidence in 
favor of other competent evidence in the record.  Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 
7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011).  However, "[w]hile a 
finding of fact of the [C]ommission will normally be upheld, such a finding may 
not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on 
evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it."  Edwards v. 
Pettit Constr. Co., Inc., 273 S.C. 576, 579, 257 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1979); see also 
Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture, 317 S.C. 306, 309-10, 454 S.E.2d 320, 322 
(1995) (affirming reversal of Commission's decision, which was supported by no 
evidence in the record).   

We find the circuit court erred in affirming findings of fact that were unsupported 
by substantial evidence in the record. Particularly disturbing is the finding that the 
2008 MRI showed "only a 'minimal' protrusion with no nerve root displacement or 
impingement, and comparatively, no greater pathology of any significance (if any) 
than the MRI of 2004 . . . ." Because no evidence indicates this opinion originated 
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from a medical provider, yet it appears in the single commissioner's order, we are 
forced to conclude it is the medical opinion of the single commissioner, adopted by 
the Commission.   

Moreover, we find substantial evidence in the record does not support the 
Commission's findings that Burnette neither injured nor aggravated a preexisting 
injury to her lower back, or that any such injury or aggravation either "returned to 
baseline" or resulted from an independent intervening accident.  See Potter, 395 
S.C. at 23, 716 S.E.2d at 126 (permitting the Commission to disregard medical 
evidence only when other competent evidence exists in the record); Edwards, 273 
S.C. at 579, 257 S.E.2d at 755 (holding a finding of fact by the Commission "may 
not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on 
evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it").  The record 
contains Burnette's medical records and testimony, as well as written opinions by 
her treating physicians and a vocational rehabilitation expert.  We find no evidence 
that challenges the conclusions of Burnette's doctors concerning her herniated disk 
at L5-S1, lower back pain, or development of radiculopathy.  As a result, the 
record provides little or no support for the findings of the Commission holding that 
Burnette neither injured nor aggravated a prior injury to her lower back in the 2007 
incident. Consequently, the circuit court erred in affirming the Commission's 
factual findings concerning the existence, exacerbation, and possible causes of 
Burnette's lower back injury.   

We reverse the circuit court's decision and remand this issue to the Commission.  
On remand, we specifically instruct the Commission to reconsider this issue and 
enter findings of fact concerning Burnette's lumbar injury that are supported by 
substantial evidence in the record.   

II. Permanent and Total Disability 

Next, considering the combined effects of her preexisting impairments with the 
injuries sustained in the June 2007 incident, Burnette argues substantial evidence 
does not support the finding that she is not permanently and totally disabled.  We 
remand this issue as discussed below.   

In a workers' compensation case, this court does not have the authority to find 
facts; that authority belongs to the Commission.  Sigmon v. Dayco Corp., 316 S.C. 
260, 262, 449 S.E.2d 497, 498 (Ct. App. 1994).  Moreover, the determination of an 
injured employee's impairment rating is more art than science, involving the 
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consideration of evidence the Commission may gather from the injured employee, 
medical and vocational experts, and lay witnesses:   

While an impairment rating may not rest on surmise, 
speculation or conjecture . . . it is not necessary that the 
percentage of disability or loss of use be shown with 
mathematical exactness. . . .  

Further, the [Commission] is not bound by the opinion of 
medical experts and may find a degree of disability 
different from that suggested by expert testimony.  
Expert medical testimony is merely intended to aid the 
[Commission] in coming to the correct conclusion.  
Unless the question of the extent of partial loss of use 
under [section] 42-9-30 is so technically complicated as 
to require exclusively expert testimony, lay testimony is 
admissible. 

Sanders v. MeadWestvaco Corp., 371 S.C. 284, 291-92, 638 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. 
App. 2006) (citations and quotation marks omitted).   

Any conclusion as to the degree or permanency of Burnette's disability must take 
into consideration her preexisting impairments, as well as factual findings not yet 
made with regard to her lumbar spine.  In view of our determination that 
substantial evidence does not support the Commission's denial of a 2007 injury or 
aggravation of a prior injury to Burnette's lumbar spine, we remand this issue to the 
Commission for (1) the entry of findings of fact concerning the extent of Burnette's 
lumbar injury or aggravation, (2) a determination of the medical treatment or other 
benefits to which Burnette may be entitled for her lumbar injury or aggravation, 
and (3) a recalculation of Burnette's disability rating in view of the injury to the 
lumbar spine.   

III. Credibility 

Finally, Burnette contends the Commission's findings concerning her credibility 
are neither material nor supported by substantial evidence.  Because our decisions 
on the two prior issues are dispositive of this appeal, we decline to reach this issue.  
See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 
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S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (ruling an appellate court need not review remaining issues 
when its determination of a prior issue is dispositive of the appeal).   

CONCLUSION 

We conclude the Commission's findings holding Burnette neither injured nor 
aggravated a prior injury to her lower back in the 2007 incident are not supported 
by substantial evidence. Consequently, we reverse the circuit court's decision 
affirming the Commission on this issue.  Furthermore, we remand this issue to the 
Commission with instructions to reconsider this issue and enter findings of fact 
concerning Burnette's lumbar injury that are supported by substantial evidence in 
the record. 

We further conclude the recognition of an injury or aggravation to an injury to 
Burnette's lower back affects the extent and permanency of Burnette's disability.  
Accordingly, we remand this issue to the Commission for reconsideration.   

Because our determinations of the two other issues dispose of this appeal, we do 
not address the issue of credibility. 

REVERSED AND REMANDED.  

SHORT and LOCKEMY, JJ., concur.   
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